
IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON D IVISION

In re: j
b

ANTOINETTE DE LA FUENTE, AND j Case No. 03-43483-114-13
LENORD DE LA FUENTE j

j
Debtor. j

b

ANTOG ETTE DE LA FUENTE, AND
LEN ORD DE LA FUEN TE,

Plaintlffs, Adversary No. 08-03291

W ELLS FARG O BANK , N.A.,
Defendant.

M EM ORANDUM  OPG ION ON DEBTORS' M OTION FOR AN ORDER OF CIVIL
CONTEM PT AGAG ST W ELLS FARG O BANK , N .A.

gAdv. Docket No. 26)

1. INTRODUCTION

This adversary proceeding involves a sad and gustrating tale of how two successfully

reorganized debtors unsuccessfully attempted to deal directly with their home lender, W ells Fargo

Bank, N.A. (We11s Fargo). Their conmmnications concemed the proper nmounts that they owe

W ells Fargo pursuant to certain orders of this Court entered during their Chapter 13 case. Only

when their effol'ts at direct dialogue failed did the debtors turn to their counsel for assistance. This

œssistance frst came through the filing of the above referenced adversary proceeding. Second, it

came through the tiling of a motion for contempt (the Motion for Contempt) when Wells Fargo

failed to correct the debtors' loan records pursuant to an agreed judgment that it signed in order
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to settle the adversary proceeding and avoid a trial. This M emorandum Opinion discusses the

reasons why this Court has decided to grant the M otion for Contempt.

IK FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. Background of this Chapter 13 Case

On September 9, 2003, Antoinette De La Fuente and Lenord De La Fuente (the De La

Fuentes) tiled a Chapter 13 petition, primarily to save their homestead from foreclosure. gMain Case

Doc. No. 1j; sce gAdv. Doc. No. 1, ! 5j. Lenord works as a mechanic. lMain Case Doc. No. 24,

Amended Schedule lJ. Antoinette raises their two sons. (Main Case Doc. No. 37, Amended Schedule

1). ln many ways, the De La Fuentes represent the American nuclear fnmily, fallen on hard times, and

desperately trying to hold on to their piece of the American dream .

And, indeed, in order to keep their home, the De La Fuentes dutifully proposed a plan which

called for sixty monthly payments to the Chapter 13 Trustee (the Trustee), who would then mnke

distributions to their creditors, including their home lender.' (Main Case Doc. Nos. 40, 51 & 521. On

June 14, 2004, the Court entered an Order Confirming the De La Fuentes' Chapter 13 plan (the

Confirmation Orderl.z Pursuant to the Contirmation Order, the De La Fuentes were required to make

1 The initial lender ontlle De La Fuentes' homewas Washington Mutual Bank, F.A. gproofof Claim Register,
Claim No. 1j, However, Wells Fargo took an assignment of this claim on June 27, 2007. (MZII Case Doc. No. 61).
Hereinafter, whencver reference is made to the Chapter 13 Trustee having made payments to W dls Fargo, the Court
intends the refercnce to include payments made not only to W ells Fargo, but also W ashington M utual Bank, F.A.

2 HereinaRer, rcference to Kktlle Conlirmation Order'' refers to: (1) tlte order confirming the plan proposed by
the Dc La Fuentes, alld the lallguage contained therein gMain Case Doc. No. 52j; (2) the Chapter 13 plan, and the
terms and conditions set forth therein EMain Case Doc. No. 405) and (3) the Summaryand Analysis of Chapter 13 Plan
(Mairl Case Doc. No. 5 lj.
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monthly payments to the Trustee, who, in turn, would disburse monies to their creditors, including

W ells Fargo. The disbursem ents made to W ells Fargo were only for arrearages--ia, the amount in

default as of the date of the tiling of the Chapter 13 petition. Under the Confirmation Order, the De

La Fuentes themselves were required to make a11 regular monthly payments which became due after

the petition's filing. Stated differently, the Trustee was the disbursing agent solely for amounts that

were due pre-petition, and not for any am ounts that becnme due post-petition.3

The De La Fuentes did in fact begin making payments in 2004, pursuant to the Confirmation

Order, and continued to do so for the next five years; their plan ended successftzlly upon them making

their sixtieth payment to the Trustee in 2009. During this five-year period, the Trustee distributed to

W ells Fargo the amount of $5,349. 19,4 representing the an'earages owed under the Consnuation

Order. And, after the De La Fuentes Gnished making a11 of their required payments under the

Confrmation Order, this Court issued its order discharging the De La Fuentes. (Main Case Doc. No.

1061.

Overall, the record reflects that the De La Fuentes were model Chapter 13 debtors. They tiled

their petition, obtained confirm ation of their plan, and made a11 of their payments pursuant to their

plan. Thus, they achieved the twin objectives of the bankruptcy process: they received a discharge;

3 The practice of allowing debtors (as ojposed to the Trustee) to make post-petition payments to home lenders
is, with certain exceptions, no longer allowed ln the Southern District of Texas. Rather, the Trustee now m akes all
distributions (both for amounts owed pre-petition and that come due post-petition). Debtors therefore need onlywon'y
about m aking one completc paym ent cach m onth to ozze pcrson- the Trustee- and the Tzustee t110  has tlze
responsibilityto distribute the correct amount of ftmds to the appropriate creditors, including home lenders. See Perez
v, Peake (1n re Perez), 339 B.R. 385, 414-17 (Banl(r. S.D. Tex. 2006) (aff'd Perez v. Peake (zk rc Perez), 373 B.R.
468, 493 (S.D. Tex. 2007)).

4 That the Trustee actually distributed this amount to Wells Fargo is retlected in the Trustee's Final Report
and Account filed on September 21, 2009. (Main Case Doc No. 109). This amount is the amount claimcd by the
original holder of the debt alld lien, W ashington Mutual Bank, F.A., when it filed its proof of claim on October 15,
2003. As alreadynoted in footnote 1, W clls Fargo took all assignm cnt of W ashington Mutual's claim in June of 2007.

Case 08-03291   Document 39   Filed in TXSB on 05/18/10   Page 3 of 30



and their creditors, including W ells Fargo, received payment on their allow ed claimq. See In re Lots

by Murphy, Inc., 2010 Bankr. LEXIS 873, at * 10-1 1 (Bankr. S.D. Tex. 2010) ((((T)he twin pillars

of bankrupcty are: ( 1) the discharge of the debtor, in order to obtain a (fresh start'; and (2) the

satisfaction of valid claims against the estate.'') (citing Fin. Sec. Assur. v. T-H New Orleans L td.

P 'ship (In re T-HNew Orleans Ltd. P'shlp), 188 B.R. 799, 8O7 (E.D. La. 1995) aff'd 1 16 F.3d 790

(5th Cir. 1997)).

B. W ells Fargo's involvem ent with the De La Fuentes

Onlune 27, 2007, W ells Fargo acquiredthe De LaFuentes' homestead loanfrom W ashington

Mutual Bank, F.A. gMain Case Doc. No. 61). ln January of 2008, the De La Fuentes were dutifully

fulfilling their obligations under the Confirmation Order (including remitting their regular monthly

payments to W ells Fargo in addition to sending their monthly payments to the Trustee, who was then

distributing monies to Wells Fargo to cure the arrearage). Nevertheless, Wells Fargo sent the De La

Fuentes a letter accusing them of being delinquent on their loan by $8,400.06. gAdv. Doc. No. 1,

!1 81.5 The letter threatened that unless the De La Fuentes became current with their payments by

5 Paragraph 18 of the Complaint filed bythe De La Fuentes to initiate the pending adversaryproceeding sds
forth in detail that they received this demand letter 9om W ells Fargo. Yet, in the Original Answer that W ells Fargo
filed, Wells Fargo states that it ç<is without knowledge or information sum cient to form a belief as to the truth of the
averments inparagraph 18.'' gAdv. Doc. No. 6, Para. 18). This statement strains crMulityconsideringthatWells Fargo
introduced the January 15 demand letter as one of its own exhibits at the pre-trial conference held in this adversary
procceding olz April 16, 2009. gWells Fargo Exhibit No. 7J. Wells Fargo, in filing a responsive pleading, has a duty
of good faith in averring that it does not have sumcient information or knowledge to admit or deny an allegation.

Djourbachi v. Selfl 240 F. R.D. 5, 11-12 (D.D.C. 2006) ('tEAq party dmaynot denysuocient information or knowledge
mth impunity, but is subject to the requirements of honesty in pleading. All averment will be deemed admitted when
the m atter is obviously one as to which a defendan.t has G owledge or inform ation.' M oreover, a party tmay be hdd
to the dutyto exert a reasonable eflbrt to obtain knowledge of a fact.''' (intenlal citations omittcdl). Because a copy of
the January 15 demandletterwas clcarlyin WellsFargo's possession, this Court believes W ells Fargo shouldhavebeen
more diligent in checking its records bcfore flingthe Original Answcr. 1ts failure to be more attentive is symptom atic
of how W ells Fargo has handled the De La Fuentes' loan, as is discussed in thc rem ainder of this M emorandum
Opinion.
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February 14, 2008, W ells Fargo would foreclose on their hom estead.6 Knowing that the allegations

in W ells Fargo's letter were incon-ect, the De La Fuentes directly contacted W ells Fargo and

attempted to correct the mistake. (Adv. Doc. No.1, ! 191. Nevertheless, Wells Fargo insisted, and

the De La Fuentes, out of fear of losing their home, entered into a temporary forbearance agreement

gWells Fargo Ex. Nos. 5 & 61 and loan moditication agreement in lieu of foreclosure on April 10,

2008.7 (Adv. Doc. No,1, ! 2Oj. This was in spite of the fact that the pre-petition mortgage al-rears

were already provided for in the Confirmation Order and, therefore, could not be collected in a

different manner ortime frame than set forthinthe Confirmation Orderwithout this Court's approval.

W ells Fargo's actions therefore violated the Confrmation Order. W ells Fargo knew the De La

Fuentes were Chapter 13 debtors andthatboththey and W ells Fargo were boundbythe Contirmation

Order; yet, W ells Fargo frightened the De La Fuentes into making payments to W ells Fargo in

violation of the Confirmation Order.

6 The letter was llot sent to bankruptcy counsel for the De La Fuentes, and the De La Fuentes felt no need at
that point in time to re-engage their bankuptcy counsel or any other attorney- no doubt because of their quite
legitimate desireto tryto resolveproblems with W clls Fargo themselves and avoid incurring additioaal attorncys' fces.

Thc temporary forbearance agrccment (thc Temporary Forbearance Agreement) arld 1oarl modifcation
agreement (the Loan Modifcation Agreement) are Exhibits 5 & 6 that this Court admitted at the pre-trial conference
on April 16, 2009.

The Temporary Forbearance Agreement stated that the De La Fuentes mustpaythe following am ounts onthe
following dates: $2,748.86 on 1/29/2008, $960.49 on 2/24/2008, $960.49 on 3/24/2008, $960.49 on 4/24/2008, and
$6,5 16.92 on 5/24/2008. Pursuant to the Temporary Forbearance Agreement, the De La Fuentes paid W ells Fargo
$2,748.86 on 1/17/2008 (although the Complaint states that the De La Fuentes did not receive the Temporary
Forbearance Agreement until January 30, it appears that some oral agreemcntwas reachedprior to that date), $960.49
on 2/19/2008 (plus a $20.00 phone fee), and $960.49 on 3/21/2008 (plus a $20.00 phone fee). Before making the
April, 2008 payment of $960.49, the De La Fuentes received a phone call from a W ells Fargo representative stating
that because they had timely made three consecutive payments pursuallt to the Temporary Forbearancc Agreement,
the De La Fuentes now qualtfied for a loall modifcation and that if theypaid $1,871.00, theywould not haveto make
the $6,516 payment duefor May2008. In the same conversation, the De La Fuentespaid $960.00 (plus a $20.00phonc
fee) and paid the remaining balance of $91 1.62 (plus a $20.00 phonc fee) on May 2, 2008. EAdv. Doc. No. 1).
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C. The history of the pending adversary proceeding

ln June of 2008, approximately two months after entering into the Loan M odiscation

Agreement and the Temporary Forbearance Agreement, the De La Fuentes decided to retain the 1aw

tirm of Walker & Patterson, P.C. (W & P) to represent them in the main case after the Trustee took

the position that they needed to modify the Plan. (Main Case Doc. No. 651. W & P had not been

initial counsel of record for the De La Fuentes, but the tinnundertookthe representation andresolved

this matter with the Trustee, plus other matters relating to their Chapter 13 case. (Main Case Doc.

Nos.79, 8 1, & 961. At some point after W & P began its representation of the De La Fuentes in the

main case, the De La Fuentes reviewed with W  & P the communications that they had exchanged

with W ells Fargo and provided W  & P with copies of the Loan M odification Agreem ent and the

Temporary Forbearance Agreem ent. As a result of cornmunications between the De La Fuentes and

W  & P, the former authorized the latter to file suit against W ells Fargo. Accordingly, on August 13,

2008, the De La Fuentes filed the Complaint initiating the instant adversary proceeding against W ells

Fargo (the Adversary Proceeding), alleging willful violation of the automatic stay and violation of the

Confrmation Order. (Adv. Doc. No. 1). On September 19, 2008, Wells Fargo filed an Original

Answer, primarily denying the De La Fuentes ' allegations, and praying that the Court deny the relief

sought by the De La Fuentes. B dv. Doc. No. 6). This Court issued a scheduling order, which set

discovery deadlines, a pre-trial conference for April 16, 2009, and a trial date for the week of April

20, 2009. gAdv Doc. No. 2j. Thereaher, the parties conducted discovery and filed their respective

pre-trial statements. gAdv. Doc. Nos. 10 & 1 1j. At the pre-trial conference on April 16, 2009, the

parties announced that they w ere ready for trial, and this Court set the trial date for April 2 1, 2009.
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D. The flrst ifsettlem ent Agreem ent''

On April 2 1, 2009, this Court called the Adversary Proceeding for trial. At that time, counsel

for both parties announced that they were in the process of negotiating a global settlem ent. Counsel

for the parties thenrecited into the recordthose termq upon whichtheyhadreached agreement. W hile

counsel for the De La Fuentes stated that the parties had reached agreement onmanyterms, he noted

that there were two material points over which the parties had yet to reach agreement: the amount

of the De La Fuentes' attorneys' fees to be paid by W ells Fargo for prosecuting the Adversary

Proceeding andthe amount of the m onthly escrow payment to be paid inthe future.8 Counselfor both

parties asked the Court to conduct an immediate trial on the amount of attorneys' fees; and counsel

for each party stated that they would confer thereafter in an effol't to reach an agreement on the

specific amount of the escrow payment. See g-fape Recording, April 2 1, 2009 Trial at 9:22:03

a.m. 9: 25: 00 a.'m.,' 10: 35:04 a.m. 1 0: 36: 06 a,m.j .

The Coul't then heard testimony on the amount of attorneys' fees, and issued an oral ruling

from  the bench awarding reasonable attolmeys' fees to the De La Fuentes in the nm ount of

$25,895.00. The Court then requested counsel for both parties to submit an agreed judgment in

writing within one week andrerninded them that thisjudgment needed to include not only the agreed

terms nnnounced into the record, but also the fee award and the escrow nmount that the parties w ere

to agree upon after ftzrther consultation. (Tape Recording, April 2 1, 2009 Trial, 10:35:04

8 The phrase ttescrow payment'' encompasses two categories: insurance costs and taxes.
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a.l'n. 10: 36:07 a.1'n.) .

Unfortunately, the parties thereafter failed to reach an agreement on the escrow am ount. Not

surprisingly, counsel never submitted a signed, written agreedjudgment to this Court. However, on

June 10, 2009, Wells Fargo unilaterally Eled a Motion for Ently of Final Judgment gAdv. Doc. No.

121 requesting that this Court sign an order approving: (1) those tenm announced into the record at

the April 21, 2009 heming; (2) attorneys' fees to the De La Fuentes inthe amount of $25,895.00 (f.c.,

the amount decided upon by this Court at the April 21 trial); and (3) the monthly escrow amount

desired by W ells Fargo but which the De La Fuentes would not voluntarily accept.

On July 20, 2009, this Coul't issued an order denying W ells Fargo's motion and a

Memorandum Opinion explaining the reaqons for its decision.g gMain C.ase Doc. Nos. 18 & 191. ln

its order denying W ells Fargo's m otion, the Court also set trial for July 28, 2009. M oreover, the

Court expressly stated in this order that any future negotiated settlement must be reduced to writing

in the form of an agreedjudgement and signed by a11 counsel of record.gMain Cmse Doc. No. 19j. ln

short, the Court was telegraphing to the parties that if they were going to resolve their dispute, they

really needed to focus on all of the terms and reduce all of those tenm  to writing so that there w ould

be absolutely no room for m isunderstanding about what the duties and obligations of the parties were

9 In its Memorandum Opinion on W ells Fargo's Motion for Entry of Final Judgment, this Court denied W ells
Fargo's M otion on two bascs. First, cven if could be said tlzat the parties did come to an agreem ent thatwas articulated
bythe oral mmounccment during the hearing of April 21a 2009, such agreement was not enforceable under the Texas
statute of âauds. See TBx. BUs. & COMM. CODE ANN. j 16.01(b)(4); West v. First Baptist Church t?./'7W.#, 71 S.W.2d
1090, 1 l00 (Tex. 1934); Khoshnoudi v. Bird, No. 05-98-00388-CV, 2000 WL 1176587, at *5 (Tex. App.- Dallas
2000, no pet) (citing rzlzrcuç/, 71 S.W . 2d at 1100)4 see also Edward Schatfvqssocs., Inc. v. Skiba, 538 S.W. 2d 501, 502
(Tex. Civ. App.- Waco 1976, no writ). Second, an agreement will not be enforced when parties include a condition
precedent and thcn subsequently fail to m eetthat colldition. See Valley Ranch Dev. Co. v. FD.L C., 960 F.2d 550, 553
(5th Cir. 1992). Here, the De La Fuentes and Wells Fargo never reached agreement on a matcrialterm-nnmely, the
amount of the m onthly escrow. Accordingly, as this Court stated in the M em orandllm Opinion: ttBecause the parties
have failed to agree on the amount of themonthlyescrow paym ent, the condition precedenthas notbeen satistled. The
Court, therefore, will not grant the Motion for Entry of Final Judgment.'' EAdv. Doc. No. 181.

8
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in any settlem ent.

E. The second ddsettlem ent Agreem ent''

On July 27, 2009, the day before trial, the parties entered into and filed an Agreed Final

Judgment (the Agreed Judgment). The Agreed Judgment represented the parties' second attempt at

settlement, but this time, all of the terms were reduced to writing and signed by counsel for both

parties. Upon submission, this Coul't reviewed and signed the Agreed Judgment, which expressly

ordered that: ( 1) the De La Fuentes' loan serviced by W ells Fargo was deemed to be contractually

current through April 2009, with the next monthly mortgage payment due in May 20094 (2) the

principal balance of the De La Fuentes' loan immediately prior to the posting and application of the

De La Fuentes' May 2009 loan payment was deemed to be $66,572.804 (3) the De La Fuentes'

monthly principal and interest payment is $551 .69 and shall remain the same until the last scheduled

payment, which is April 1, 20294 (4) a11 future monthly payments of principal and interest shall be

applied as reflected on Exhibit A; 10 (5) the De La Fuentes' escrow account shall show a positive

balance of $ l ,700.00 as of April 31, 2009411 (6) until the next scheduled escrow analysis, the De La

Fuentes shall pay, in addition to the principal and interest payment, $4 10.24 per month to be applied

10 Exhibit A to the Ajreed Judgment is an amortization scheduleindicatingthe outstandingprincipal balance
and amounts of prirtcipal and mterest to bepaid for each month through April 1, 2029 (which is when the last monthly
payment is to be paid by the De La Fuentes). There is littlc doubt that Exhibit A is attached to the Agreed Judgment
so that there would be absolutelyno ambiguity about how much the monthly principal and interest payment would be,
and llow tlzis am ount would be applied against the balarlce owcd undcr the loan.

11 Theparties mistakenlyhad a typographical error httlle Agreed Judgment referencing April 31, 2009, when
it is comm on knowledge that April has only 30 days. At the tim e the Court signed the Agreed Judgment, it construed
the reference to April 31 to reallybe April 30.
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to their escrow account; (7) the De La Fuentes' loan shall show no outstanding fees, costs, charges

or corporate advances as of April 31, 20094 12 (8) to the extent Wells Fargo is required to make

correcting entries on the De La Fuentes' 1oan records to reflect the am ounts set out in the Agreed

Judgment, such correcting entries shall be completed within 30 days from the entry on the docket of

this Agreed Judgment (!'.c., by August 26, 2009)413 (9) nothing in the Agreed Judgment shall affect

the special escrow account held by W ells Fargo which contains insurance proceeds paid as the result

of damages to the homestead of the De La Fuentes; and (10) Wells Fargo shall pay the De La

Fuentes' attolmeys, W alker & Patterson, P.C., the reasonable fees and costs for prosecuting the

Adversary Proceeding in the nmount of $30,895.00, with such payment to be made within 10 days

of the ently of the Agreed Judgment. (Adv. Doc. No. 23j.

Having entered into the Agreed Judgment, the De La Fuentes believed, nmong other things,

that all of their concerns over the inaccuracies of their loan records at W ells Fargo had been put to

rest. ln the words of M s. De La Fuente: dtW llen the settlem ent came through, and w e got the final

judgment from the Court and everything, 1 called your oftke ( i.e., her attorney's officej. And we

were happy and pleased.'' (Feb. 9, 2010 Tr. 1 1:2-42. Unfortunately, the De La Fuentes' sense of

closure was nlisplaced.

F. Discovery by the D e La Fuentes of W elts Fargo's failure to com ply with the Agreed
Judgm ent

The De LaFuentes tirst discoveredthat W ells Fargo was Wolating theAgreedludgment when

:2 See footnote no. l 1.

13 Thc Agrccd Judgment was entere,d On thc docket on July 2% 2009. Therefore, Wells Fargo had thirty (30)
days from this date- f. e. , by August 26, 2009- to m ake tlle correcting entries.

10
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they received the Monthly Mortgage Statement dated 1 1/13/09. EExhibit No. Q. This Statement

incorrectly reflected, among other things, that the unpaid principal balance of the 1oan was

$70,938.84 gExhibt No. 2q; it should have reflected that the unpaid principal balance was $65,753. 16

pursuant to the Agreed Judgment. gExhibit No. 1j. Thereafter, according to W & P's timesheets, Ms.

De La Fuente met with Miriam Goott (Goott), an attorney at W  & P, on November 18, 2009.

(Exhibit No. 5j. The time sheets reflect that on November 22, 2009 and December 7, 2009, Goott

worked on a draft of a m otion for contempt. How ever, no m otîon for contempt w as fled in

December of 2009.

ln January of 20 10, M s. De La Fuente went online to make the monthly paym ent to W ells

Fargo. (Feb. 9, 2010 Tr. 7: 10-14). However, she was unable to mpke this online payment because

when she hit the appropriate key on her computer to make the payment, her computer screen told her

that she had to call Wells Fargo because of the status of her account. (Feb. 9, 20 10 Tr. 7: 15-18j. She

therefore called W ells Fargo, and as she was on the phone, she noticed that the balance of the loan

appearing on the screen had increœsed gFeb. 9, 2010 Tr. 7: 19-2 1), a fact which surprised her because

her husband and she had mnde all of the payments since May of 2009. (Feb. 9, 2010 Tr. 7: 10-1 1j.

She also noticed that the screen reflected that W ells Fargo had reversed several of the paym ents that

her husband and she had made since May of 2009. (Feb. 9, 20 10 Tr. 7:20-22). She inquired about

the payment reversals, and the W ells Fargo employee with whom she was speaking told her that ttit

was a computer glitch and that they would fix it.Give it a couple of days.''gFeb. 9, 2010 Tr.

12: 1 1-121. And, indeed, the De La Fuentes waited a couple of days for Wells Fargo to correct both

the payment reversals and the balance of the loan. Unfortunately, W ells Fargo failed to m ake these

corrections', in fact, the balance had increased even further. (Feb. 9, 2010 Tr. 12: 13-161.
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Thereafter, still in January, M s. De La Fuente once again tried to make a payment online, and

was prevented from doing so. gFeb. 9, 2010 Tr. 14:21-22). She, once again, called W ells Fargo

ttgalnd that's when they told me that 1 had been put in bankruptcy status, and that l needed to make

my loan current. And they wanted me to pay more than what 1 wanted to pay, that wœs my monthly

payment. And 1 didn't want to pay more, because 1 didn't owe more than that.'' Feb. 9, 2010 Tr.

14:24-15:3j. Thus, in the eyes of the De La Fuentes, Wells Fargo continued to Wolate the Agreed

Judgment because, am ong other things, the balance on their loan still did not track with what the

balance of the loan should be pursuant to the amortization schedule attached to the Agreed

Judgment.'4 Stated differently, the De La Fuentes were now painfully aware that W ells Fargo had

not con-ected the entries in its intelmal records as required by the Agreed Judgm ent.

G. The nllng of the M otion For Contem pt

The De La Fuentes authorized W  & P to 5le the M otion for Contempt, which was done on

January 18, 20 10. gAdv. Doc. No. 2614 (Exhibit No. 5). On January 2 1, 20 10, this Court, through the

Office of the Clerk of Court, docketed a notice that the hearing for the M otion for Contempt would

be held on Februal'y 9, 2010. (Adv. Doc. No. 271. On January 22, 2010, counsel for the De La

Fuentes sent notice of this hearing to counsel for Wells Fargo. (Adv. Doc. No. 291. However, Wells

Fargo did not file a written response to the M otion for Contempt. lnstead, W ells Fargo chose to

simply appear at the hearing and defend itself

RAlthough W ells Fargo was in violation of the Agreed Judgm ent in various respects, one of the provisions
with which it did timely complywas that itmade payment of the $30,895.00 in attorneys' fees that the Dc La Fuentes
had incurred.

12
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H. The hearing on the M otion for Contem pt

The February 9. 2010 oart of the hearirm (the Februmw 9 Hearincb

The hearing on the M otion for Contempt began on February 9, 2010. On this day, Ms. De La

Fuente testified, and she did so vel'y credibly.ls Her testimony revealed that W ells Fargo was not in

compliance with the Agreed Judgment in several respects.

First, M s. De La Fuente testified about Exhibit No. 2. She noted that this Exhibit was the

Monthly M ortgage Statement dated 1 1/13/09 that her husband and she had received from W ells

Fargo. This statement sets forththat the unpaidprincipalbalance is $70,938.84. She emphaized that

this figure does not trackwith the language of the Agreed Judgment. The Agreed Judgment sets forth

that the principal balance dsimmediately prior to the posting and application of the Plaintiffs' (J'.c., the

De La Fuentes'j May, 2009 loan payment is $66,572.80.'' She also testitied that her husband and she

had made a1l of their monthly payments to W ells Fargo since May of 2009 (Feb. 9, 20 l 0 Tr.

7: 10-1 1j. Thus, there is no way that in November of 2009, the unpaid principal balance could be

$70,938.84. The unpaid principal balance as of 1 1/13/09 wouldhave to be in an nmount less than the

figure of $66,572.80 for M ay of 2009 set forth in the Agreed Judgment. And, indeed, a review of

Exhibit A to the Agreed Judgment- which sets forth the amortization schedule to be used for the

15In addition to adducing testimony from Ms. De La Fuente, counsel for the De La Fuentes introduced into
the record six exhibits. This Court admitted the first four exhibits atthe February 9 Hearing, andthetwo otlter exhibits
(f.c, , Exhibit Nos. 5 & 6) were admitted at the February 23, 2010 hearing. Exhibit No. 1 is the Agreed Judgment;
Exhibit No. 2 is the M onthly M ortgage Statement dated 1 1/13/09 that the De La Fuentes received from W ells Fargo;
Exhibit No. 3 is thc Business Online Account Activity maintained by W ells Fargo on the De La Fucntes' account
shov ng entries made 9om 08/04/09 through 01/19/1 0; Exhibit No. 4 is the Busincss Online Account Activity
maintained by W ells Fargo on the De La Fuentes' account showing entries m ade 9om 08/10/09 through 02/05/104
Exhibit No. 5 is the lnvoice dated 02722710 from counsel for thc De La Fucntes to thc De La Fuentes for serviccs
rendcred in conncction with thc prosecution for the M otion for Contempt; arld Exhibit No. 6 is the Business Online
Account Activity maintained by W clls Fargo on the De La Fuentes' account showing cntries madc from 01/05/10
through 02/05/10. W ith respect to Exhibit 5, the Court expresslydid not admit certain hearsay statements within that
exhibit rather, the exhibits were admitted for the purpose of proving up the rcasonablelless of tlle attorlleys' fees
incurred by the De La Fucntes.
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remaining life of the loan indicates that, as of 1 1/01/2009,the unpaid principal balance is

$65,753. 16, which is an amount less than $66,572.80. Thus, as of the February 9 Hearing, W ells

Fargo was not in compliance with the Agreed Judgment because the 1 1/13/09 M onthly M ortgage

Statement which it sent to the De La Fuentes overstated the unpaid principal balance by $5, 185.68

(!'.c., $70,938.84 - $65,753. 16 = $5, 185.68).

Second, M s. De La Fuente testified about Exhibit No. 3. She stated that she found this page

online in Janualy 20 10 when she looked up her mortgage account on the dtW ells Fargo Business

Online'' website gFeb. 9, 2010 Tr. 9: 15-21j. This document represents that the last payment received

from  the De La Fuentes was on 12/30/09. That is the good news; it is an accurate representation.

Unfortunately, the bad new s is that this document reflects that the outstanding principal balance is

$71,337.82. Thus, W ells Fargo was not in compliance with the Agreed Judgment because this

document reflects that the unpaid principal balance is not $65,632.98 (as set forth in the agreed upon

amortization schedule attached to the Agreed Judgment), but rather $7 1,337.82-which means that

this document overstates the unpaid principal balance by $5,704. 84 (f.a, $7 1,337.82 - $65,632.98

=  $5,704.84). Further, even thoughthe De LaFuentes hadmade thekNovember and December 2009

payments, Wells Fargo's records reflect that the unpaid principal balance rose from $70,938.84 (I'.c.,

the incorrect fkure set forth in the Monthly Mortgage Statement of 1 1/13/09) to $71,337.82 Li.e.,

the incorrect fkure set forth in the Business Online Account Activity from January of 20 10). Stated

differently, W ells Fargo's internal system increased the principal balance even when the De La

Fuentes m ade timely paym ents.

But there is m ore. The online statem ent m arked as Exhibit No. 3 contains a line that reads as

follows: dt-l-otal amount due to make loan current: $8,934.72.'' Not surprisingly, M s. De La Fuente
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testified that this representation was wrong. She was very clear in stating that her husband and she

were cun-ent on the loan. (Feb. 9, 20 10 Tr. 9:24-10:81. This Court agrees. Because: (a) the Agreed

Judgment expresslystatedthatthe De LaFuentes' loanwas contractually current throughApril 2009;

(b) the De La Fuentes had made a11 of their regular monthly payments to Wells Fargo since May of

2009 (Feb. 9, 20 10 Tr. 7: 10-1 1); (c) the Agreed Judgment had been entered on the docket and

become a final order (Adv. Doc. No. 2444 and (d) the Trustee had paid to Wells Fargo the entire

arrearage of $5,349. 19 pursuant to the Confirmation Order (Main Case Doc. No. 109j, there is no

way that the De La Fuentes needed to pay $8,934.72 to bring their loan current. They were current!

Thus, W ells Fargo was not in compliance with the Agreed Judgment because according to the terms

of the Agreed Judgment, the De La Fuentes were current through April of 20094 and given that they

had made all of thek payments from May of 2009 and thereafter- a fact, it should be noted, that

W ells Fargo does not dispute- there is no way that the De La Fuentes needed to pay $8,934.72 to

bring their loan current. The information in W ells Fargo's Business OnlineAccountActidtytherefore

contradicted the representations that W ells Fargo gave to the De La Fuentes and to this Court in the

Agreed Judgm ent.

Ms. De La Fuente's testimony about Exhibit No. 4 tracks with her testimony about Exhibit

N o. 3. She stated that she found Exhibit N o. 4 online in February 2010 when she looked up her

mortgage account on the Wells Fargo Business Online website (Feb. 9, 2010 Tr. 10:9-161. This

document reflects that the last paym ent received from the De La Fuentes was on 0 1/29/10. Once

again, that is the good news; it is an accurate representation. Unfortunately, the bad news is that this

document, just like Exhibit No. 3, reflects that the outstanding principal balance is a number different

from what it should be based upon the agreed amortization schedule attached to the Agreed
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Judgment. Accordingto that amortizationschedule, the outstrdzgprincipalbiance- %suM ngthat

the De La Fuentes have made all of their payments through January of 2010, which they have- is

$65,390.24. Yet, Exhibit No. 4, which M s. De La Fuente printed off of the W ells Fargo Business

Online website within 24 hours of the February 9 Heming, reflects that the outstanding principal

balance is $66,572.80. ln other words, the outstanding principal balance is shown to be $1, 182.56

greater than what W ells Fargo agreed it should be in the Agreed Judgment.

Cyranted, the figure of $66,572.80 is the sgure referenced in the Agreed Judgment as the

outstanding principalbalance, but the Agreed Judgment unequivocally sets forth that this fkure is the

principal balance immediately prior to the posting of the loan payment made by the De La Fuentes

for M ay of 2009. The problem for W ells Fargo is that because the De La Fuentes had made their

monthly payments for each month since M ay of 2009, the balance of $66,572.80 had decreased.

Thus, Exhibit No. 4 demonstrates that W ells Fargo was not in compliance with the Agreed Judgment

because the outstanding principalbalance fkure wœs overstated and did not matchwith the figure set

fol'th in the amortization schedule attached to the Agreed Judgment (i.e., $65,390.24).16

But, once again, just as with Exhibit No. 3, there is more. The online statement marked as

Exhibit N o. 4 contains a line that reads as follow s: tt-fotal am ount due to m ake loan current:

$9,421.52.'' Not surprisingly, M s. De La Fuente testised that this sgure had increased from

t6At thc Febzuary 9 Hearing, counsel for Wells Fargo, in cross examining Ms. Dc La Fuente, spent timc
adducing testimony from her during which she acuowledged that on Exhibit No. 4, the ttgojutstanding prùtcipal
balance'' is shown to be $66,572. 80. Counsel for W ells Fargo then asked Ms. Dc La Fuente whether this figure is the
balance çças per thejudgement of this Court?'' and she responded in the aërmative. (February 9, 2010, Tr. 16:4-6j.
Counsel then inquired d<gsqo does it appear to you that that adjustment has been made?'' and she also responded in the
alrmative. (February 9, 2010, Tr. 16:7-91. To the extent that counsel for Wclls Fargo was attempting to adduce
testimonyto convince this Court that W ells Fargo was in compliance with thc Agreed Judgment, his attempt must fail.
By Februazy 9, 2010, according to Schedule A attached to the Agreed Judgm ent, thc correct principal balalzce was
$65,390.24, not $65,572.80. And, indeed, counsel for the Del.a Fuentes, on redircct examination of Ms. De La Fuente,
adduced testimony 9om her on exactly this point. gFebruary 9, 2010, TT. 19: 11-21: 171.

16
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$8,934.72 (ï.c., the number in Exhibit No. 3) to $9,421.52. (Feb. 9, 2010 Tr. 10:9-23j. As already

noted, the De La Fuentes were current on thek loan in February of 20 10, just as they were current

on their loan in January of 20 1O. Hence, there is no w ay that any document for which W ells Fargo

is responsible should be showing that in February of 2010, the De La Fuentes needed to pay

$9,42 1.52 to bring their loan cun-ent. W hat is particularly peculiar about the figure of $9,421.52 is

that it represents an increase of $486.80 from lanuary of 2010 to February of 2010, while, at the same

time, the De La Fuentes were making tim ely monthly paym ents to W ells Fargo. Thus, W ells Fargo

was not in compliance with the Agreed Judgment because according to the ternts of the Agreed

Judgment, the De La Fuentes were current through April of 2009. Given that they had made all of

their payments from May of 2009 and thereafter- another fact that W ells Fargo does not

dispute- there is no way that the De La Fuentes needed to pay $9,421.52 to bring their loan current.

The information in W ells Fargo's Business Online Account Activity therefore contradicted the

representations that W ells Fargo gave to the De La Fuentes and to this Court in the Agreed

Judgment.

After M s. De La Fuente tinished giving testim ony, counsel for the De La Fuentes stated that

they had no furtherwitnesses to call in their cœse-in-chief on W ells Fargo's failure to comply with the

Agreed Judgment. Counsel for W ells Fargo then informed the Court that W ells Fargo wanted to call

one witness, but that this witness had been unable to tly to Houston due to inclement weather. The

Coul't therefore agreed to continue the hearing until February 23, 2010, so that this witness could

give testimony on behalf of W ells Fargo.

However, having heard the testimony of M s. De La Fuente, andhaving reviewed the exhibits,

this Court did m nke a finding that because the amortization table of the Agreed Judgm ent required
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the principal balance to be $65,390.24 as of February 1, 2010, and because Exhibit No. 4 (the Wells

Fargo Business Online Account Activity) showed the balance to be $66,572.80, Wells Fargo was

therefore in violation of the Agreed Judgment. gFeb. 9, 2010 Tr. 25:6-26: 16q. Citing F.D./.C. v.

LeGrand, this Court concluded that the De La Fuentes had met their burden in satisfying the three

elements required to establish that Wells Fargo was in contempt of this Court's judgment- namely,

the Agreed Judgment.l? gFeb. 9, 2010 Tr. 26: 10-15)) F.D..J.C . v. f eGrand, 43 F.3d 163, 170 (5th

Cir. 1995). The Court then stated that the burden now fell on Wells Fargo to demonstrate that it was

unable to complywiththe Agreed Judgment or that it had some other relevant defense. (Feb. 9, 2010

Tr. 26: 17-194 27:5-91. The Court informed counsel for W ells Fargo that the Court would hear

testim ony from  W ells Fargo's representative at the continued hearing to be held on February 23,

2010. gFeb. 9, 2010 Tr. 28: 1 1j.

Finally, because the Court concluded that W ells Fargo was in contempt of the Agreed

Judgment due to the failure of Exhibit No. 4 to show that the principal balance was $65,390.24

(instead of $66,572.80), the Court issued an oral ruling that Wells Fargo would be liable to the Clerk

of Court on a per diem basis in the nmount of $1, 182.56 for each day thereafter until the fkure of

$65,390.24 was showing as the principal balance. 18 (Feb. 9, 2010 Tr. 26:20-27:4). The Court noted

that upon hearing testimony from the W ells Fargo witness at the February 23, 2010 hearing, it would

make a determination whether W ells Fargo had met its burden to establish that it could not comply

with the Agreed Judgment andwhether W ells Fargo would have to pay any nm ounts that accrued for

l7rfhis conclusion was limited solely to the incorrect principalbalallce indicated in W ells Fargo's records. At
the February 9 Hearing, the Court expressly noted that it was making no ruling on W clls Fargo's other alleged acts
of contempt. glkb. 9, 2010 Tr. 27:22-252.

ls The amount of $1, 182.56 is the diflkrence between what was actually appearing on Exhibit No. 4 (j.c.,
$66,572.80) and what should have been showing on Exhibit No. 4 (i.e., $65,390.24).

1 8
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each day that passedwhere the fkure of $65,390.24 was not showing as the principal balance. gFeb.

9, 2010 Tr. 27: 10-13q.

1.- The February 23, 2010 part of the heartqmf-the february 27 Hearina)

On February 23, 2010, W ells Fargo presented its case in chief by calling one witness, John

cyrissomlcyrissom), mad byintroducingtwo exhibits.lg Additionally,theoecayuentesreczledvs.

De La Fuente on rebuttal, and also adduced testimony from their counsel on the amount of attorneys'

fees that they had incurred in prosecuting the M otion for Contempt.

Testimony ofthe Wells Fargo rcpresentative, John Grissom

Grissom identified himself as a senior counsel of Wells Fargo. (Feb. 23, 2010 Tr. 10: 12-131.

He works out of a Wells Fargo office in lowa. gFeb. 9, 2010 Tr. 1: 12-131. He stated that he directed

his paralegal in July of 2009 to make the changes within W ells Fargo's system in accordance with the

terms of the Agreed Judgment. (Feb. 23, 2010 Tr. 10: 13-181. He also admitted that the adjustments

that his paralegal was supposed to make at that time included reducing the principal balance to the

figure of $66,572.80. (Feb. 23, 2010 Tr. 10: 19-212, He then admitted that this particular adjustment

was not done. (Feb. 23, 20 10 Tr. 10:22-231. When counsel for Wells Fargo asked Grissom why the

adjustment was not made, Grissom responded: (This one was a mistake. It was one that fell through

the cracks.'' (Feb. 23, 2010 Tr. 10:25-1 1: 1j. lndeed, Grissom stated that he &st learned that the

19 The two exhibits of W ells Fargo which this Court admittcd were Exhibit A and Exhibit B. Exhibit A is a
one-page docum ent that is untitled but unquestionably contains inform ation about the Dc La Fuentcs' hom e loan as
of February 22, 2010. Exhibit B is a ivc-page document that is also untitle,d but unqucstionably contains historical
information about the De La Fuentes' home loan.

19
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adjustnaent had not been nnade Nvhen theMotion fo< Contemptwas filed on January 18,

2010- a1m ost six months after the entry of the Agreed Judgment on the docket, and almost five

months after the deadline for Wells Fargo to make the adjustments pursuant to the Agreed Judgment.

Sec (Feb. 23, 2010 Tr. 1 1:7-1 1j. Thus, Grissom, by his own testimony, contirmed that Wells Fargo

was not in compliance with the Agreed Judgment. Counsel for W ells Fargo thereafter attempted to

adduce testimony from Grissom to convince this Court that W ells Fargo did not have the ability to

make the adjustment or, alternatively, that W ells Fargo had some other defense.

First, Grissom stated that once he learned about the filing of the M otion for Contempt, he

'sdirected my paralegal to work with the information systemq people to get this account corrected.''

gFeb. 23, 2010 Tr. 1 1: 19-211. According to Grissom, these personnelundertook this task and made

the appropriate adjustments pursuant to the Agreed Judgment. gFeb. 23, 2010 Tr. 1 1:22-234 14: 10-

231.

Second, Grissom asserted that if, prior to the filing of the M otion for Contempt, he had

received notice about Wells Fargo's failure to comply with the Agreed Judgment, the adjustment

would have been made earlier: ç(Oh, absolutely absolutely. If l'd received a call or an e-mail from you

or anything, we would have taken care of getting this done much sooner.'' (Feb. 23, 20 10 Tr.

15: 17-192.

Third, Grissom emphasized that Wells Fargo's failure to make the adjustment in accordance

with the Agreed Judgment by the thirty-day deadline set forth in that judgment (I'.c., by August 26,

2009) was not a willful failure on Wells Fargo's part. gFeb. 23, 2010 Tr. 1 1:2.-64.

On cross-exnmination, Grissom unequivocally testifed that W ells Fargo is now in complete

compliance with the Agreed Judgment. gFeb. 23, 20 10 Tr. 17:21-18:5q. Yet, on further cross-

20
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examination, Grissom then had to concede that his statement was incorrect. First, he admitted that,

pursuant to the Agreed Judgment, the monthly payment for principal and interest is $551.69, the

monthly escrow payment is $410.24, and the sum of these two figures is $961.93. gFeb. 23, 2010 Tr.

19: 12-231. He then had to concede that Exhibit 2 (the monthly Mortgage Statement dated

1 1/30/2009) indicates that the combined monthly payment of principal, interest, and escrow is

$984.00, not $961.93. (Feb. 23, 2010 Tr. 19:24-20:41. lndeed, he admitted that all of the Monthly

M ortgage Statements through February of 2010 indicated that the De La Fuentes had to pay $984.00

insteadofsg6l.ga. EFeb. 23, 2010 'rr, 19, 20:3-164.20 Thus, he hadto concedethat wells Fargo had

been violating the Agreed Judgment by over-charging the De La Fuentes each month by $22.07 for

the ten month pedod tkom May of 2009 to February of 20 10.21 (Feb. 23, 2010 Tr. 22:2-10j.

Grissom attempted to explain away this violation of the Agreed Judgment by stating that as

of close of business on February 22, 2010, W ells Fargo had made all the necessary corrections in its

loan records to come into compliance with the Agreed Judgment. (Feb. 23, 2010 Tr. 12: 16-194

20:3-81. And, indeed, Exhibit A (interflal records of W ells Fargo) reflects that the total monthly

payment is now shown to be $961.93. The problem, however, is that untilW ells Fargo refunds to the

De La Fuentes the $22.07 for each of the ten months that it overcharged them, W ells Fargo is indeed

inviolation of the Agreed Judgment, which expressly sets forththat the proper amount of the monthly

payment is $96 1.93, not $984.00.

Grissom also attempted to navigate his way around this problem  by stating that when W ells

20 Asidc from the M onthlyM ortgage Statement, the Business Online Account Activityas of Januaryzl, 2010
(Exhibit 3) also incorrectly reflects that the combined payment is $984.00 instead of $961.93.

21 Accordingto Grissom, 'the additiollal amount of $22.07 thatthe De La Fuentes paid each month was placed
into a so-called t<suspense account.'' EFeb. 23, 2010 Tr. 22: 1t-15; 24: 1 1-25:94.

2 1
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Fargo receives more funds than is required, the excess monies go into a dtsuspense account.'' (Feb.

23, 2010 Tr. 22: 1 1-154 24: 1 1-25:91. ln other words, Wells Fargo does not return excess ftmds, but

rather keeps them in an account which it controls. According to Grissom, that is what W ells Fargo

did with the monthly excess of $22.07 that the De La Fuentes remitted. And, indeed, Exhibit A

(internal records of Wells Fargo) shows that there is a suspense account for the De La Fuentes loan.

But, there is a problem . Exhibit A shows that as of February 22, 2010, the balance of the suspense

account is $109.76. Given that the De La Fuentes paid $22.07 for ten months, and that the sum of

these ten payments is $220.70, there is a shortfall of $1 10.94 (i.e., $220.70 - $109.76) for which

W ells Fargo cnnnot account. lndeed, when askedwhy Exhibit A does not show the suspense account

to have $220.70 instead of $109.76, Grissom had to concede that: d(1 do not know the answer to that

question.'' (Feb. 23, 2010 Tr. 23: 11. Thus, Wells Fargo's own records show that the dtsuspense

account'' has fewer funds in it then it should have. W ells Fargo has not properly accounted for a11 of

these funds. lndeed, according to Grissom , any borrow er, including the De La Fuentes, have the right

to have the funds sitting in a ttsuspense account'' applied against outstanding principal. (Feb. 23,

2010 Tr. 24:5-25:9J. Thus, if the De La Fuentes requested that Wells Fargo apply the $220.70 that

they overpaid against their outstanding principal, W ells Fargo would have only $ 109.76 to apply. ln

other words, W ells Fargo could not even comply with its own internal procedures.

W ells Fargo is in violation of the Agreedludgment in anotherrespect. The Agreed Judgm ent

expressly sets forth that dsthe Plaintiffs' gI'.c., the De La Fuentes') loan shall show no outstanding fees,

costs, charges or corporate advances as of April 3 1, 2009.''22 gAdv. Doc. No. 241. Yet, in Exhibit A

(internal records of Wells Fargo), there is a category entitled (CLC DlJE.'' When asked what this

lzsee footnote no. 1 1.

Case 08-03291   Document 39   Filed in TXSB on 05/18/10   Page 22 of 30



phr%e means, Grissom responded: ttlwate charge due.'' The following exchange then took place

between counsel for the De La Fuentes and Grissom :

Counsel for the De La Fuentes: &(So this statement says that the debtors have a late
charge?''

Grissom : tlcon-ect.''

Counsel for the De La Fuentes: tdBut they are current?''

Grissom : ttYes ''

Counsel for the De La Fuentes: &CCaIA you explain to me how that is possible?''

Grissom: dt-fhey mayhave mnde apayment late. lf theymake apayment after the due
date, they would have a late charge.''

Counsel for the De La Fuentes: t(So, if the debtors have evidence that they made
their payments on time and paid a late fee, that wouldn't be there, correct?''

Grissom : tdshould not be there.''

gFeb. 23, 2010 Tr. 25:22-25:91.

There is no doubt that the De La Fuentes have tim ely m ade a11 of their payments with the

exception of their payments for October and December of 2009. gEx. No. 3); (Februm'y 23, Tr.

42:22-43:71. Further, Ms. De La Fuente testifed that when these two late payments were made, the

late fee was included with the regular monthly payment. gFebruary 23, Tr. 42:20-43:7). lndeed,

Exhibit No. 3 (W e11s Fargo's Business Online Account Activity page) indicates that the De La

Fuentes were assessed two late charges in the six months prior to 01/2 1/2O1O- one on l 0/16/09 and

one on 12/16/09. And Exhibit N o. 3 also shows that the De La Fuentes m ade their monthlypaym ents

shortly after these late fees were %sessed, and included the additional amounts with their regular

m onthly payment to pay for the late fee as well. Therefore, because the De La Fuentes m ade all of
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their regular monthly payments, and also paid any late fees shortly after they were incurred, the De

La Fuentes are totally current on their loan with W ells Fargo. ln fact, Grissom himself unequivocally

stated- not once, not twice, not three times, but four times- that the De La Fuentes were current.

(February 23, Tr. 16:23-244 16:25-17: 1; 23:7-8) 25: 16-17j. Moreover, Glissom unequivocally

stated that there were no late charges imposed for any of the adjustments that W ells Fargo finally

made on the eve of the February 23 Hearing. gFebruary 23, Tr. 12:20-14:4j. Given a11 of this

testimony, there is absolutely no basis for Exhibit A reflecting that the De La Fuentes owe a late

chm'ge of $78.72.23 Accordingly, because the Agreed Judgment expressly represents that the De La

Fuentes loan records shall show no outstanding charges, and because the De La Fuentes have m ade

a11 of their payments (including payment of the two late charges for October and December of 2009),

the late charge now appearing on Exhibit A violates the Agreed Judgm ent. W ells Fargo's records

should actually show that there are no late charges due; and until the records so reflect, W ells Fargo

is in violation of the Agreed Judgment.

Having had to adm it that there were errors in W ells Fargo's records in violation of the Agreed

Judgment, Grissom  attempted to persuade this Court that the De La Fuentes' hands are suë ciently

unclean that anyrelief they request should therefore be denied. For example, Grissom testised to the

effect that the De La Fuentes or their counsel should have contacted W ells Fargo or him prior to

fling the M otion for Contempt. According to Grissom, if they had done so, then W ells Fargo would

have quickly made the corrections to the loan records and there would have been no need to file the

23 lt is worth notillg that, even if the De La Fuentes did owc a late charge, thc amount of $78.72 would be
overstated. It is important to remember that W ells F'argo, in 'violation of the Agree.d Judgm ent, was sending M onthly
Mortgage Statements rmuiring the De La Fuentestopaysg84.oopermonl raler thanthe correct amount of $961.93.
Becauscthelatefeeis calculated as apercentage ofthe amountthat shouldbepaid, W ells Fargo, whenever it calculated
the late charge, used the incorrect figure of $984.00 to arrive at the amount of the late fec.

24
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Motion for Contempt. (February 23, 2010 Tr.15: 14-191. Second, Grissom, in conceding

inconsistencies in the information set fol'th in the W ells Fargo's Business Online Account Activity

(Ex. Nos. 2, 3, & 6), suggested that the De La Fuentes were at fault for relying on this Business

Online Account Activity. Set forth below is the exchange between Grissom  and counsel for the De

La Fuentes about why the Business Online Account Activity sometimes shows a line item that says

ti-fotal Am ount Due to Bring Loan Current'' and other tim es does not:

Counsel for the De La Fuentes (refening to Exhibit No. 6, which is the W ells Fargo
Business Online Account Activity for Janualy and February of 2010): ddWhy is it that
on February 19th there isn't a line item  that says dd-fotal Amount Due to Bring Loan
Current?''

Grissom: d<I can't answer that question.''

Counsel for the De La Fuentes: (dSo sometimes it's on there and som etim es it's not?''

Grissom : ét-fhis is not an official record of W ells Fargo. This is their online process.
This is a convenience for the customer. This is not considered an o/ cial record of
W ells Fargo.''

Counsel for the De La Fuentes: ds-fhis is what the debtor has to look at to see if they
ow e m oney, if payments have been received. They shouldn't rely on this document?''

Grissom : t&W ell, again, when they look at this in the m iddle of a1l the corrections that
are being m ade to the account, it is going to be skewed by a11 of the changes that are
being made. I mean, this shows that they were due for- next payment was due on
M ay 1St of 2009. Clearly, that w %n't correct. But l don't know why it doesn't have
the nm ount needed to bring the account up to date. 1 can't answer that question for

you.

(February 23, 2010 Tr. 38: 1-20j.

Finally, Grissom blamed the computer system for W ells Fargo's failure to comply with the

Agreed Judgment. (February 23, 2010 Tr. 12:9-15, 15:2-84.
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Rebuttal testimony ofMs. De L a Fuente

M s. De La Fuente gave very credible testim ony that her husbmld and she had made all of their

monthlypaym ents and, when theymissedthe deadline on two of the payments, they not onlypaid the

$96 1.93, but also simultaneously paid the late charge. gFebruary 23, 2010 Tr. 42: 14-44: 141.

Testimony of Johnie Patterson, a partner at the law .#'rza of Walker (fn
Patterson, PC, counselfor the De La Fuentes

Johnie Patterson (Patterson), a partner at W & P, which is the fil'm representing the De La

Fuentes, gave testimony about the services rendered on behalf of the De La Fuentes in the

prosecution of the M otion for Contempt. Patterson has approximately twenty years of experience

practicing bankruptcy law and is board certified in consumer bankruptcy law. EFebruary 23, 2010,

Tr. 48: 18-211. Patterson also testified that Miriam Goott's hourly rate on this matter is $225.00.

Goott is an associate attorney who has worked for W  & P for seven years, and has done so as an

attorney practicing bankruptcy 1aw for approximately five to six years. gFebruary 23, 2010 Tr.

48:22-49: lj.

M uch of Patterson's testimony concerned Exhibit No. 5, which is an invoice dated February

22, 20 l 0, setting forth a description of the services rendered by both Patterson and Goott. The

invoice reflects services rendered fromNovember 18, 2009 (when Goott first consulted with Ms. De

La Fuente about the inaccuracies set forth on the Monthly M ortgage Statement datedNovember 13,

2009) through February 22, 20 10 (when Goott prepared for the February 23 Hearing). Patterson

testified that the De La Fuentes w ere seeking an order from this Court that W ells Fargo pay the total

26
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value of the fees and costs set forth in this invoice- a total of $3,754.00, representing the sum of

$3,720.00 in fees for professional services and $34.00 in costs incun-ed in relation to the M otion for

Contempt. He also testitied that his clients want this Court to require W ells Fargo to pay the fees for

services rendered by Goott and Patterson on Februaly 23, 2010, which are not reflected in Exhibit

5. According to Patterson's testim ony, Goott and he spent approxim ately tw o and a half hours each

on this day in the courtroom. Goott's hourly rate is $225.00, which results in a value of $562.50 for

her services rendered on February 23. Patterson's hourly rate is $325.00, which results in a value of

$812.50 for his services rendered on February 23. The sum of $562.50 plus $812.50 is $1,375.00.

February 23, Tr. 46: 15-50: 15). Thus, the total amount of fees and expenses which the De La

Fuentes seek to recover from W ells Fargo is $3,754.00 plus $1,375.00- f01- a total of $5,129.00.

111. CREDIBILITY OF W ITNESSES

At the February 9 Hearing, counsel for the De La Fuentes called one witness, M s. De La

Fuente, to testify on W ells Fargo's handling of the mortgage loan. M s. De La Fuente also provided

rebuttal testimony at the February 23 Hearing. The Court finds M s. De La Fuente to be very credible

in all aspects of her testimony.

At the February 23 Hearing, counsel for the De La Fuentes also called Patterson, one of the

attorneys representing the De La Fuentes. Patterson gave testimony about the services rendered by

his 51711 on behalf of the De La Fuentes in prosecuting the M otion for Contempt. The Court finds
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Patterson to be very credible.

At the Februat'y 23 Hearing, counsel for W ells Fargo called one witness, Grissom, Senior

Counsel for W ells Fargo, to testify on W ells Fargo's handling of the De La Fuente's mortgage loan

and the corrections made to W ells Fargo's records in relation to this loan. The Court $5111 Grissom's

credibilityto be lacking in certainrespects. First, he gave a Shermanesque statement that W ells Fargo

was now in compliance with the Agreed Judgment (February 23, 2010 Tr. l 7: 17-18:5j, but then

subsequently had to admit that W ells Fargo's recorcts still contained enrrs in violation of the Agreed

Judgment. rFebruary 23, 2010 Tr. 22:9-23:8j. Second, he could not explain why there are late

charges appearing on Wells Fargo's records. gFebrual'y 23, 20 10 Tr. 25: 19-26:95. Grissom's failure

on these key points, combined with his nonchalance on the stand, reflects a troubling lack of

perspective regarding how much is at stake for honest and diligent Chapter 13 debtors, such as the

De La Fuentes, who are tr/ng to hold on to their home, and how important it is for Wells Fargo to

abide by this Court's orders when dealing with debtors. Glissom  appears to be representative of the

absence of any sense of urgency within W ells Fargo to maintain accurate records and comply with

the law. lndeed, the following testimony from Grissom underscores this point:

Question (from counsel for the De La Fuentes): tWnd is that a correct fkure?''

Answer (from Grissoml: ttWell, it is l don't believe it is correct. However, it is

correct because that's what we're presenting to the Court today.''

lFebruaryz3, 2010 Tr. 27: 14-17). Apparently, it does notbother Wells Fargo, whose representative

is a licensed attorney at law , to testify under oath in one breath that art escrow amount is both

correct and incorrect. And, perhaps even worse, to say that this amount is correct because ddthat's

what we're presenting to the Court today,'' even though he knows ftzll well that it is incorrect.
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IV. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

A. Jurgsdiction and Venue

The Court has jurisdiction over this proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. jj 1334(b) and

157(a). This particular dispute is a core proceeding pursuantto 28 U.S.C. jj 157(b)(2)(C), (L), (0),

andthe general tdcatch-all'' language of 28 U.S.C. j 157(b)(2). Seelh resouthmark Corp., 163 F.3d

925, 930 (5th Cir. 1999) (t&gA) proceeding is core under section 157 if it invokes a substantive right

provided by title l 1 or if it is a proceeding that, by its nature, could arise only in the context of a

bankruptcy case.''); Dc Montaigu v. Ginther (In rc Ginther Trusts), Adv. No. 06-3556, 2006 WL

3805670, at * 19 tBankr. S.D. Tex. Dec. 22, 2006) (holding that an Sïlaldversaty (plroceeding is a

core proceeding under 28 U.S.C. j 157(b)(2) eventhough the laundry list of core proceedings under

j 157(b)(2) does not specifically name this pm icular circumstance.'') . Finally, this Court has

jurisdiction over this proceeding because it involves the enforcement of an order issued by this

Court; namely, the Agreedludgment. Travelers Indem. Co. v. Bailey, 129 S.G . 2 195, 2205 (2009)4

In re Cano, 410 B.R. 506, 546 (Bankr. S.D. Tex. 2009).

Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. jj 1408 and 1409.

B. W elts Fargo has been in contem pt of the Agreed Judgm ent for several m onths

J-:- The De La Fuentes have satisfied the elements of civil contempt by W ells Fargo
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The Fifth Circuit has held that bankruptcy courts have civil contempt powers. Matter of

Terrebonne Fuel & f ube, 108 F.3d 609, 612-13 (5th Cir. 1997). Pursuant to Fifth Circuit

precedent, Stlijn a civil contempt proceeding, the party seeking an order of contempt need only

establish (1) that a court order was in effect, and (sic) (2) that the order required certain conduct by

the respondent, and (3) that the respondent failed to comply with the court's order.''F.D.f C v.

LeGrand, 43 F.3d 163, 170 (5th Cir. 1995) (citing US. v. Hayes 722 F.2d 723, 725 (11th Cir.

1984)4 In re Bradley, 588 F.3d 254, 264 (5th Cir. 2009). 't'l-o determine compliance with an order,

the court simply asks whether the respondent has (performed the acts required by the order). lf he

has not, the burden shifts to the respondent to rebut this conclusion, demonstrate an inability to

comply, or present other relevant defenses.'' f eGrand, 43 F.3d at l 70 (citing Matin v. Trinitylndus.

Inc., 959 F.2d 45, 47 (5th Cir. 1992))4 Star Britc Dist., Inc. v. Gavin, 746 F.supp. 633, 643 (N.D.

Miss. 1990); In re Bradley, 588 F.3d at 264.

ln the dispute at bm', the evidence unambiguously inclicates that W ells Fargo is in contempt

of this Court. The first element is satisfied because the Agreed Judgment became effective when it

was entered onto the docket on July 27, 2009.

The second element is satisfied because the Agreed Judgment requires certain conduct by

W ells Fargo. Speciscally, the Agreed Judgment requires W ells Fargo, byAugust 26, 2009, to make

correcting entries on the loan records of the De La Fuentes to reflect the agreements on various

points concerning this particular loan all of which are set forth in the Agreed Judgment. The specific

agreements set forth in the Agreed Judgment are as follows: (1) the loan of the De La Fuentes is

contractually current through Aplil of 20094 (2) the principal balance of the De La Fuentes' loan

immediately prior to the application of the May 2009 monthly payment is $66,572.80; (3) the
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